IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-IA-00421-SCT CONSOLIDATED WITH No. 2008-IA-00788-SCT

DON BARRETT, INDIVIDUALLY; BARRETT LAW OFFICE, P.A.; AND LOVELACE LAW FIRM, P.A.

DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

versus

JONES, FUNDERBURG, SESSUMS, PETERSON & LEE, LLC

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. L07-135

LARRY D. MOFFETT WILTON V. BYARS, III SHEA S. SCOTT DANIEL COKER HORTON & BELL, P.A.
265 NORTH LAMAR BLVD, SUITE R
POST OFFICE BOX 1396
OXFORD, MS 38655-1396
(662) 232-8979
Attorneys for Appellants

ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether a court, in exercising its inherent powers, may sanction and punish an innocent party who has not engaged in any wrongful conduct and who had no knowledge of, never authorized, and never ratified the wrongful conduct of another party.
- B. Whether innocent co-venturers can be sanctioned and punished for the unauthorized and criminal conduct of another venturer committed outside the ordinary course of the business of the joint venture.
- C. Whether a court abuses its discretion when it fails to apply the mandatory "lesser sanctions" analysis, and thereby unnecessarily sanctions and punishes innocent parties.
- D. Whether a court's sanctioning and punishment of innocent parties violates their constitutional rights.
- E. Whether a court may deny arbitration as a sanction after finding that the issues in the case are subject to arbitration and that the parties seeking to compel arbitration have not waived their arbitration rights.
- F. Whether a settlement with an active wrongdoer releases, as a matter of law, those persons who are allegedly vicariously liable for the wrongdoer's conduct.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case and the course of the proceedings and its disposition in the court below.

The plaintiff, Jones Funderburg, Sessums, Peterson & Lee, LLC ("Jones Firm"), filed suit in the Circuit Court of Lafayette County on March 15, 2007, against the Scruggs Law Firm, P.A. ("Scruggs Firm"); Richard F. Scruggs, individually; Nutt & McAlister, PLLC ("Nutt Firm"); Don Barrett, individually; Barrett Law Office, P.A. ("Barrett Firm"); and the Lovelace Law Firm, P.A. ("Lovelace Firm"). (R. 1-30). Richard F. Scruggs and the Scruggs Firm will sometimes herein be referred to collectively as "the Scruggs Defendants."

The Jones, Scruggs, Barrett, Nutt and Lovelace Firms were all parties to a Joint Venture Agreement ("Agreement") dated November 8, 2005. (R.E. 2; R. 22-27, 52-59, 245-250). Don Barrett, individually, was not a member of SKG, but is a principal member of the Barrett Firm; and Richard F. Scruggs is a principal member of the Scruggs Firm. The joint venture was designated as the "Scruggs Katrina Group" ("SKG"), and was formed for the sole purpose of bringing lawsuits on behalf of individuals and businesses who were denied insurance coverage for property damage arising out of Hurricane Katrina. (R.E. 2; T. 304-305, 313-314, 333, 336, 340-341; R. 22, 88-91, 755-757). The Agreement contains a mandatory binding arbitration provision which states: "Disputes - Any dispute arising under or relating to the terms of this agreement shall be resolved by mandatory binding arbitration, conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the

American Arbitration Association." (R.E. 2; R. 24).

Notwithstanding the mandatory binding arbitration provision contained in the Agreement, the Jones Firm filed its original Complaint on March 15, 2007, and filed a First Amended Complaint on March 28, 2007, alleging claims relating to the Jones Firm's share of fees and its removal from SKG. (R. 24, 1-30). SKG was not sued and no claims were asserted by the Jones Firm against SKG. (R. 1-30). On April 10, 2007, defendants filed a timely Answer and Demand for Arbitration, and also filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings and Compel Arbitration ("Motion to Compel Arbitration") based on the Agreement's mandatory binding arbitration provision. (R. 31-46, 47-96).

Honorable Henry L. Lackey conducted a hearing on defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration on July 17, 2007, but never entered an order ruling on defendants' motion. (T. 1-60). Instead, on November 19, 2007, Judge Lackey recused himself, and on November 28, 2007, defendant Richard Scruggs, two other members of the Scruggs Firm (Sidney A. Backstrom and David Zachary Scruggs), Timothy R. Balducci, and Stephen A. Patterson were indicted by the United States Attorney for the Northern District of Mississippi for attempting to bribe and corruptly influence Judge Lackey to enter an order granting defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. 326-338). On December 7, 2007, the Jones Firm filed a Motion for Sanctions based upon the allegations of the indictment and requested that the court strike defendants' Answer, strike defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration, and enter a default judgment against all defendants. (R. 314-316, 326-342).

The Honorable William F. Coleman was assigned to replace Judge Lackey, and Judge Coleman conducted a hearing on defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration on January 14-15, 2008. (T. 61-62, 120-187). On January 15, 2008, Judge Coleman found that the Agreement's arbitration provision was valid and enforceable, found that defendants had not waived their right to arbitration, and entered an order stating that defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration "is well-taken and should be granted," but further stating that "the Order granting defendants' Motion to Stay Proceeding and Compel Arbitration . . . and referring this matter to arbitration shall not be entered at this time and is held in abeyance pending resolution of issues raised by plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions." (R.E. 3, 4; R. 578-582).

On February 26, 2008, the lower court held that it had the authority to deprive defendants of arbitration as a sanction, but ruled that it would hold an evidentiary hearing on the Jones Firm's Motion for Sanctions before deciding whether to impose sanctions. (R.E. 5, 8; T. 204-207; R. 724-725). The Scruggs Defendants filed a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal (No. 2008-IA-00421-SCT) on March 12, 2008, requesting appellate review of the trial court's February 26, 2008, order, and the remaining defendants, including appellants herein, joined in the Scruggs Defendants' petition.

On April 15, 2008, the court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the Motion for Sanctions. At the hearing, undisputed testimony was presented by appellants that the appellants had no knowledge of, did not participate in, did not authorize, and did not ratify the subject wrongful conduct by the Scruggs Defendants. (R.E. 6, 9, 10, 11; T. 303-314,

332-336, 338-341; R. 755-757). On April 16, 2008, the court issued a bench opinion and entered an order granting the Motion for Sanctions. (R.E. 7, 13; T. 390-392; R. 759-760). The court found that the Scruggs Defendants conspired with others to influence Judge Lackey and that this plan later developed into a conspiracy to bribe the judge. (R.E. 13; T. 390-391). Even though the court found that "there is little, if any, evidence that [appellants] participated in or were aware of the bribe or part of the conspiracy," the court sanctioned and punished appellants and the Scruggs Defendants in the same manner, by striking defendants' Answer, striking defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration, entering a default against all defendants, and ordering that defendants pay plaintiffs' reasonable attorney's fees and expenses incurred since July 17, 2007. (R.E. 7, 13; T. 390-392; R. 759-760).

On May 7, 2008, appellants herein filed a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and for Stay of Proceedings (No. 2008-IA-00788-SCT) appealing from the lower court's April 16, 2008, order and opinion. Appellants' petition and the Scruggs Defendants' prior Petition for Interlocutory Appeal (No. 2008-IA-00421-SCT) were both granted and are consolidated for this proceeding. (*See* Clerk's Notice issued October 30, 2008, Motion #2008-2421 in No. 2008-IA-00421-SCT and in No. 2008-IA-00788-SCT).

The Scruggs Defendants and the Nutt Firm have now settled with the Jones Firm and are no longer parties to the trial court proceedings or this appeal. (*See* Order entered on Joint Motion to Partially Lift Stay and Dismiss Certain Parties to Appeal, Motion #2008-2417 in No. 2008-IA-00421-SCT; and Order entered on Joint Motion to Partially

Lift Stay and to Dismiss Certain Parties to Appeal, Motion #2008-2416 in No. 2008-IA-00788-SCT).

B. Statement of the facts relevant to the issues presented for review.

The Jones, Scruggs, Barrett, Nutt, and Lovelace firms entered into a Joint Venture Agreement dated November 8, 2005 ("Agreement"). (R.E. 2; R. 22-27, 52-59, 245-250). The joint venture was designated as the "Scruggs Katrina Group" (or "SKG") and was formed for the sole purpose of bringing lawsuits on behalf of individuals and businesses who were denied insurance coverage for property damage arising out of Hurricane Katrina. (R.E. 2; T. 304-305, 313-314, 333, 336, 340-341; R. 22, 88-91, 755-757). Don Barrett, individually, was not a member of SKG, but is a principal member of the Barrett Firm; and Richard Scruggs is a principal member of the Scruggs Firm.

At a meeting of all members of SKG on March 2, 2007, four of the five members of SKG (the Barrett, Nutt, Lovelace and Scruggs firms) approved a distribution of attorneys' fees to SKG's members, and also voted to remove the Jones Firm from SKG. (R. 89-90). SKG thereafter sent a check to the Jones Firm representing its share of fees, but the Jones Firm disagreed with the amount of fees that had been allocated to it and returned the check. (R. 11, \P 60).

Rather than initiating arbitration as required by the Agreement's mandatory binding arbitration provision, the Jones Firm filed this suit on March 15, 2007, and filed a First Amended Complaint on March 28, 2007, alleging claims against defendants relating to the Jones Firm's share of fees and its removal from SKG. (R. 1-30). SKG was not sued and

no claims were asserted by the Jones Firm against SKG. (R. 1-30). On April 10, 2007, defendants filed a timely Answer and Demand for Arbitration, and also filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings and Compel Arbitration ("Motion to Compel Arbitration") based on the Agreement's mandatory binding arbitration provision. (R. 31-46, 47-96).

On January 15, 2008, after conducting a hearing on defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration, Judge Coleman found that the Agreement's arbitration provision was valid and enforceable, found that defendants had not waived their right to arbitration, and entered an order stating that defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration "is well taken and should be granted," but further stating that "the order granting defendants' Motion to Stay Proceedings and Compel Arbitration . . . and referring this matter to arbitration shall not be entered at this time and is held in abeyance pending resolution of issues raised by plaintiffs' Motion for Sanctions." (R.E. 3, 4; T. 61-62, 120-187; R. 578-582).

On April 15, 2008, the court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the Jones Firm's Motion for Sanctions. (T. 213-404). It was undisputed, based on, *inter alia*, testimony presented by appellants, that appellants had no knowledge of, did not participate in, did not authorize, and did not ratify the subject wrongful conduct by the Scruggs Defendants. (R.E. 6, 9, 10, 11; T. 303-314, 332-336, 338-341). Further, the Jones Firm did not even assert that appellants were personally involved in any wrongdoing, but instead sought to have sanctions imposed on appellants vicariously, based on the proposition that appellants, as co-venturers and/or co-defendants, were liable for the wrongful actions of the Scruggs Defendants. (R. 314-316, 326-342).

On April 16, 2006, the court issued a bench opinion and entered an order granting the Jones Firm's Motion for Sanctions. (R.E. 7, 13; T. 390-392; R. 759-760). The court found that the Scruggs Defendants conspired with others to influence Judge Lackey and that this plan later developed into a conspiracy to bribe the judge. (R.E. 13; T. 390-391). Even though the court found that "there is little, if any, evidence that [appellants] participated or were aware of the bribe or part of the conspiracy," the court sanctioned and punished both appellants and the Scruggs Defendants in the same manner. (R.E. 7, 13; T. 391; R. 759-760). Specifically, the court entered an order striking defendants' Answer, striking defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration, entering a default against all defendants, and ordering that defendants pay the Jones Firm's reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses incurred since July 17, 2007. (R.E. 7; R. 759-760).

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, a court may only impose sanctions through its inherent powers when there is a finding of bad faith personal to the offender. If there is no finding of bad faith or willful intent by the party against whom sanctions are sought, then the court cannot impose sanctions against that party. Appellants did not engage in any wrongful or bad faith conduct. It is undisputed that appellants had no knowledge of, did not participate in, did not authorize, and did not ratify the subject wrongful and criminal conduct of the Scruggs Defendants. Bad faith cannot be attributed to another through vicarious liability; therefore a court cannot impose inherent power sanctions on an innocent co-venturer or co-defendant for the bad faith of another co-venturer or co-defendant.

Second, even if the doctrine of vicarious liability were potentially available, which it is not, sanctions against appellants are not appropriate. Don Barrett is not a member of SKG, so no principles of vicarious liability can be applied to or imposed upon him. As to the other appellants, no vicarious liability could be imposed, because the wrongful acts of the Scruggs Defendants were not in the ordinary course of business or with the authority of SKG. The "ordinary course of business" is what is "usually done in the management of trade or business." The criminal conduct of the Scruggs Defendants is extraordinary and well beyond what is "usually done in the management of trade or business." Furthermore, a lawsuit between joint venturers over the division of fees is certainly not in the ordinary course of the business of the joint venture, and the members of a joint-venture are, therefore, not responsible for the wrongful acts of another member in the context of such a suit.

Third, a court's inherent power to impose sanctions is limited and must be exercised with restraint and discretion. A court must use "the least possible power adequate to the end proposed." The punishments imposed against Mr. Scruggs and other responsible parties in the criminal proceedings and the sanctions that could have been imposed in the civil case against the Scruggs Defendants alone, are severe punishments that sufficiently punish the wrongdoers and deter others from engaging in the same conduct. There is absolutely no need to punish or sanction these innocent appellants. The lower court was required to use the least possible power to accomplish its purpose, but erred and abused its discretion in failing to do so.

Fourth, the sanctions imposed by the lower court on these innocent appellants have deprived appellants of their property interests, including their contract rights and their right to defend the Jones Firm's claims, even though appellants had no knowledge of, did not participate in, did not authorize, and did not ratify the subject wrongful and criminal conduct of the Scruggs Defendants and even though the Jones Firm has suffered no damages as a result of appellants' actions. The sanctions imposed on these innocent appellants are unjust and excessive, "shock the conscience," are outside the bounds of legitimate governmental activity, and, therefore, violate appellants' constitutional rights. These constitutional violations are even more egregious when applied to Don Barrett, individually, who was not even a member of SKG.

Fifth, the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") requires a court to compel arbitration after it has determined that the parties agreed to arbitrate their disputes. Once the lower court determined that the parties' dispute was subject to arbitration, it could not delve further into the dispute according to the FAA and Mississippi common law, and could not deprive appellants of their arbitration rights nor effectively dispose of the merits of the dispute via the entry of a default judgment. Instead, the lower court should have separated the arbitration issue from the sanctions issue by compelling arbitration of the merits of the dispute and fashioning appropriately severe monetary or other sanctions against the Scruggs Defendants alone.

Finally, the Jones Firm has settled with the Scruggs Defendants. As a matter of law, any vicarious liability appellants could possibly have (if any) for the wrongful actions

of the active wrongdoers (the Scruggs Defendants) has been extinguished, and appellants have been released from any such vicarious liability and released from the lower court's sanctions order as a matter of law.

This Court should reverse the lower court and remand this action, directing the lower court to enter an order compelling arbitration of the parties' disputes.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court applies an abuse of discretion standard when it reviews a decision to impose sanctions pursuant to the court's inherent powers. *Pierce v. Heritage Properties, Inc.*, 688 So. 2d 1385, 1388 (Miss. 1997). This Court applies a de novo standard of review to denials of motions to compel arbitration. *Magnolia Healthcare, Inc. v. Barnes*, 2008 *LEXIS* 392, *3 (Miss. Aug. 6, 2008).

B. The Jones Firm is not entitled to sanctions against Don Barrett, Barrett Law Office, P.A., or Lovelace Law Firm as a matter of law.

A court's inherent power to issue sanctions is confined to instances of bad faith. Pressey v. Patterson, 898 F.2d 1018, 1021 (5th Cir. 1990). Without bad faith there can be no sanctions. Roadway Express, Inc. v. Piper, 447 U.S. 752, 765-66 (1980); Alyeska Pipeline Inc. v. Wilderness Soc'y, 421 U.S. 240, 258-59 (1975).

A finding of bad faith is personal to the offending party and cannot be attributed to another party through such legal doctrines as vicarious liability. *Wolters Kluwer Financial Services, Inc. v. Scivantage*, 525 F.Supp.2d 448, 539, n.331 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (citing G.

Joseph, SANCTIONS - The Federal Law of Litigation Abuse 446 (Matthew Bender 2000) (citing, inter alia, Browning Debentures Holders' Comm. v. DASA Corp., 560 F.2d 1078, 1089 (2d Cir. 1977)). See also Hall v. Cole, 412 U.S. 1, 5 (1973) (bad faith is personal to the offender); Dow Chem. Pacific, Ltd. v. Rascator Maritime S.A., 782 F.2d 329, 344 (2d Cir. 1986) (there must be clear evidence of bad faith by a particular party, and a finding that one defendant has acted in bad faith in conducting litigation does not justify imposition of sanctions against a co-defendant); Bower v. Weisman, 674 F.Supp. 109, 112 (S.D. N.Y. 1987) (bad faith is personal; since there was no showing that Bower's counsel knew or aided in the misconduct, sanctions were only appropriate against Bower). If there is no finding of bad faith or willful intent by the party against whom sanctions is sought, then the court cannot impose sanctions against that party. Hayes v. Entergy Miss., Inc., 871 So. 2d 743, 747 (Miss. 2004); Arista Records, LLC v. Tchirhart, 241 F.R.D. 462, 464-65 (W.D. Tex. 2006) (citing Pressey v. Patterson, 898 F.2d 1018 (5th Cir. 1990)).

Appellants are not accused of bad faith or willful intent. It is undisputed that appellants engaged in <u>no</u> wrongful conduct — they had no knowledge of, did not participate in, did not authorize, and did not ratify the subject wrongful conduct of the Scruggs Defendants. The lower court made no finding of bad faith by appellants. Instead, the court punished appellants based <u>solely</u> on the (erroneous) proposition that appellants are vicariously liable for the wrongful conduct (bad faith acts) of the Scruggs Defendants. The imposition of sanctions on these innocent parties through vicarious liability is foreclosed as a matter of law since a finding of bad faith personal to the offender is required.

In ruling that appellants could be sanctioned along with the Scruggs Defendants, the lower court apparently relied on a case cited by the Jones Firm, *Estate of Washington v. Duggins*, 632 So. 2d 420 (Miss. 1993), in which this Court affirmed punitive damages against one partner for the acts of another partner performed in the ordinary course of the business of the partnership. The *Duggins* decision, however, was obviated when the Mississippi Legislature amended the punitive damage statute now found at Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-65: "This statute absolutely forecloses vicarious liability for punitive damages in actions arising after [its] effective date." *Duggins*, 632 So. 2d at 433 (Lee, J., dissenting, referring to the statute as it reads today).

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