IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DON BARRETT, INDIVIDUALLY; BARRETT LAW OFFICE, P.A. and LOVELACE LAW FIRM, P.A.

A CHARLES SANCE SELECTION OF THE CONTROL OF THE CON

APPELLANTS

v.

CAUSE NO. 2008-IA-00421 CONSOLIDATED WITH CAUSE NO. 2008-IA00788

JONES, FUNDERBURG, SESSUMS, PETERSON & LEE, PLLC

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, CAUSE NO. L07-135

GRADY F. TOLLISON, JR., WILLIAM K. DUKE, CAMERON ABEL, TOLLISON LAW FIRM, P.A. 100 Courthouse Square P.O. Box 1216 Oxford, Mississippi 38655 662-234-7070 Telephone 662-234-7095 Facsimile Attorneys for Appellees

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

III. Summary of the Argument
	IV. Argument
	A. Fraud upon the court differs in degree from other sanctionable offenses and demands sanctions that also differ in degree
	B. Denying the defendants' attempts to remove this case to arbitration after Scruggs's fraud upon the court is proper under the circumstances 13
	C. There is no due process issue: the court below has authority to impose financial sanctions in addition to striking pleadings and entering default. 20
	D. The defendants are not prejudiced
· .	V. Conclusion
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Certificate of Service
	Appendix

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

	<u>CASES</u> <u>PAGE</u>
	Baltia Air Lines, Inc. v. Transaction Management, Inc.,
	98 F.3d 640 (D.C. Cir. 1996)
	Boyer v. GT Acquisition LLC,
	2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 58450 (D. Ind. 2007)
	Burrough v. Hawn,
	1998 Miss. LEXIS 545 (Miss. 1998)
	Chi. Title & Trust Co. v. Fox Theatres Corp.,
	182 F. Supp. 18 (D.C.N.Y. 1960)
	Dotson v. Bravo,
	202 F.R.D. 559 (D. Ill. 2001)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Drobny v. C.I.R.,
	113 F.3d 670 (7th Cir. 1997)
	Duggins v. Guardianship of Washinton,
	632 So.2d 420 (Miss. 1993)
	Eppes v. Snowden,
	656 F. Supp. 1267 (D. Ky. 1986)
	F.J. Hanshaw Enters. v. Emerald River Dev., Inc.,

in State of the St	244 F.3d 1128 (9th Cir. 2001)
	Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford Empire Co.,
	322 U.S. 238 (1944)
	In re Met-L-Wood Corp.,
	861 F.2d 1012 (7th Cir. 1988)
	In re Whitney-Forbes, Inc.,
	770 F.2d 692 (7th Cir. 1985)
e e	McIntosh v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.,
, fr	2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 27736 (S.D. Miss. Apr. 4, 2008)
	Miss. Care Ctr. of Greenville, LLC v. Hinyub,
	975 So. 2d 211 (Miss. 2008)
	Newell v. State,
	308 So. 2d 71 (Miss. 1975)
	Oxxford Clothes XX v. Expeditors Int'l,
	127 F.3d 574 (7th Cir. 1997)
	Pierce v. Heritage Properties, Inc.,
	688 So. 2d 1385 (Miss. 1997)
	Root Refining Co. v. Universal Oil Prods. Co.,
	169 F.2d 514 (3d Cir. 1948)

Shows v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., Shows v. State Farm Fire & Cas.	J. /
Cause No. 1:07CV709, Southern District of Mississippi,	
PACER Doc. 354	
Spallone v. United States,	
93 U.S. 265 (1990)	
United States ex rel. Rigsby v. State Farm Ins. Co.,	
2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40296 (S.D. Miss. May 19, 2008)	•
United States ex rel. Rigsby v. State Farm Ins. Co.,	, : .
2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 86656 (S.D. Miss. Aug. 14, 2008)	
United States v. Hudson & Goodwin,	
11 U.S. 32 (U.S. 1812)	
CONSTITUTION, STATUTES AND RULES	
9 U.S.C. § 2	
Miss. Const. Ann. Art. 3, § 24	
Miss. R. Civ. P. 11	
Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(g)	
Miss. R. Civ. P. 16(i)	
Miss. R. Civ. P. 37(b)	
Miss. R. Civ. P. 41(b)	

Miss. R. Civ. P. 52	1.
Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b)	•
U.R.C.C.C. 1.03)
U.R.C.C.C. 1.10)
OTHER AUTHORITIES	
Charles Alan Wright et al., Federal Practice & Procedure § 2870	3

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether a trial court in exercising its inherent authority to protect the dignity and integrity of the courts may retain jurisdiction over a matter that it would have sent to arbitration but for a gross and criminal fraud upon the court.
- B. Whether a refusal to compel arbitration entered because of a fraud committed against the court by a co-defendant may be applied to all co-defendants where those co-defendants are members of a joint venture and/or joint defense and the fraud against the court would have benefitted all the defendants, especially when all defendants are attorneys at law.
- C. Whether the defendants have been or will be prejudiced by the trial court's order.

我说,我们们就是我的一个一个人,就就是我们的我们的一个人,不是我们的人,不是我们的人。

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case and the Course of the Proceedings and the Disposition in the Court Below

This case is an Interlocutory Appeal from an Order of the Circuit Court of Lafayette County that struck the pleadings of all defendants and entered an order against all defendants because (at least) two of the five defendants conspired to bribe the court. The sordid facts of the conspiracy to bribe the trial judge are notorious and will not be set forth in great detail herein, other than to state that Richard F. Scruggs, who was an individual defendant in this case, and two members of the Scruggs Law Firm, the firm also a defendant in this case, eventually pleaded guilty in federal court to offenses arising out of the attempted to bribery. As is well known, the trial judge at the time reported the attempted bribe to authorities, and thereafter cooperated with federal law enforcement to bring the conspirators to justice. Plaintiff filed a Motion for Sanctions when indictments were made public.

The case below was essentially a dispute over the division of attorney fees between members and principals of members, all attorneys at law, who had formed a joint venture to represent Hurricane Katrina plaintiffs against their insurance carriers.

The chronology of the legal proceedings set forth by Defendant/Appellants' in

their Statement of the Case is essentially correct, except for characterization and argument.

After the fact of the bribe was conclusively established by guilty pleas, the special judge appointed to hear the case first entered an order that indicates that while the defendants could have obtained an order compelling arbitration, no such order would be entered pending the court's determination of the Motion for Sanctions. (R. 581-582, Appellants' R.E. Tab 4). The court subsequently imposed the sanction of striking the defendants' pleadings including the motions to compel arbitration, which ipso facto denied the request to refer the matter to arbitration, and entered an order mandating a future hearing to determine the amount of attorney fees the plaintiff was entitled to from the joint venture, and whether it is entitled to attorney fees and punitive damages arising out of the actions of the joint venture perpetrated against the plaintiff. The Order specifically preserves the defendants' rights to "raise issues of law, such as whether the facts establish a legal basis for recovery." (R. 759-760, Appellants' R.E. Tab 7)

It was at this juncture in the proceedings that the Supreme Court reconsidered a former denial and granted an interlocutory appeal that the defendants had requested earlier.

B. Statement of the facts relevant to the issues presented for review.

There is no dispute as to the reason that the order striking defendants'

established. However, in addition to the factual matters set forth above in the Statement of the Case, certain other matters may also be pertinent.

The Complaint filed below accuses the defendants of each being an active participant in the events that led to the Complaint, that is, that they colluded and unlawfully conspired to deny the plaintiff its due share of attorneys fees earned in Hurricane Katrina litigation, that the defendants continually denied the plaintiff its right to fairly and neutrally arbitrate the division of fees after plaintiff expressly invoked that right numerous times, and then unjustly removed or "squeezed out" the plaintiff from the joint venture after benefitting from its work, thereby denying the plaintiff its share of future profits of the joint venture as well. The plaintiff's argument before the trial court at the time was that all of the defendants had expressly waived the right to arbitration by refusing to arbitrate when such was requested by plaintiff multiple times before the suit was filed.

The defendants chose to mount a singular, collective defense against plaintiff's complaint and submitted singular, collective pleadings in the case. All of the defendants were collectively represented by Daniel Coker Horton & Bell, P.A. (Tr. 313). Daniel Coker Horton & Bell was singularly paid by Nutt & McAlister, the firm that also served as treasurer of the SKG. (Tr. 326). Defendant Sparky Lovelace testified that even as late as the April 2008 sanctions hearing, he still had not paid his

the bribe was to get the case into arbitration for which all defendants would have benefitted. (Tr. 320). Though Don Barrett submitted an affidavit to the court in the April 2008 sanctions hearing, the trial court sustained an objection to its admission (Tr. 338-339); as the admission is not an issue in this appeal, the appeals court should not consider the testimony contained within Don Barrett's affidavit.

The bribe money paid to Judge Lackey was reimbursed out of SKG joint venture funds. Defendant David Nutt of defendant Nutt & McAlister testified that pursuant to the joint venture agreement, his firm served as the treasurer of the joint venture SKG and was responsible for paying expenses and costs arising from the litigation of SKG. (Tr. 309-310, 321, 323). The \$40,000 in bribe money paid by Timothy Balducci to Judge Henry Lackey was invoiced by Scruggs to the joint venture SKG ostensibly to conduct voir dire in a Katrina case called Lisanby; Scruggs attached documentation from Balducci's law firm to the invoice manifest for reimbursement. (Tr. 309-310, 321, 323). The Nutt firm accepted the invoice on behalf of SKG and reimbursed Scruggs for a \$40,000 payment to Balducci to conduct voir dire or to prepare documents for voir dire, and even though the Lisanby case had never been tried. (Tr. 309-310, 321, 323, 325). Nutt testified that a \$40,000 payment to a lawyer to conduct voir dire was "reasonable" even though each of the joint venture's firms with the exception of one had multiple lawyers who could have

completed the same voir dire work and even though other expenses of Scruggs had been questioned in the past. (Tr. 309-310, 321, 323).

The Honorable Judge Lackey testified that Timothy Balducci stated that the defendants had "changed tactics" and wanted to delay the proceedings because the plaintiff was having financial difficulties, and the <u>four defendant firms</u> thought that if the case was delayed, the delay would encourage the plaintiff to settle the lawsuit. (Tr. 247).

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi courts must protect the integrity and dignity of the state justice system, and public policy supports the trial court's order denying all of the defendants arbitration as a sanction. The trial court not only had the inherent authority to impose the sanction, it was positively obligated to do so. Bribery is a fraud upon the court.

The law permits outright dismissal or the granting of default judgment for far less egregious conduct than that which occurred in this case.

The application of the sanctions order to all defendants is not repugnant to the law. The defendants are not actually deprived of anything by the trial court's order. They are not being punished. The effect of the order is that the trial court itself, sitting without a jury, in Oxford, Mississippi, will itself speedily and summarily determine the percentage or amount of attorney fees Jones, Funderburg, Sessums,

Peterson and Lee, PLLC is entitled to from the joint venture. It will do so, obviously, with no more burden on the defendants than they would have complying with the AAA arbitration guidelines. As stated, Judge Coleman has simply appointed himself arbitrator. There is no allegation that he is not impartial. It is the least possible exercise of power adequate to the end proposed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Fraud upon the court differs in degree from other sanctionable offenses and demands sanctions that also differ in degree.

Public policy supports the order of the court. The authority of the court below is premised on its inherent authority to protect the integrity and dignity of the court. The bribery was a fraud upon the court that generated extreme adverse publicity for the courts and lawyers generally. It called into doubt the integrity of the entire system of justice in Mississippi. It eroded the confidence of the people of this state in the integrity of the system. The spectacle of what played out and is continuing to play out, in the newspapers and web-logs ("blogs") was an insult to the dignity of the courts and bar. It made a mockery of the Rule of Law. The courts *must* be in control of every aspect of this debacle. As well, the actions of two of the defendants in bribing the sitting judge in this case violated plaintiff's constitutional rights. Indeed, Miss. Const. Ann. Art. 3, § 24 expressly states that "[a]ll courts shall be open; and every person for an injury done him in his lands, goods, person, or reputation, shall

without sale, denial, or delay." (emphasis added).

The end proposed to be achieved by the imposition of the sanctions in this case is no less than the restoration of public faith in the integrity and dignity of the courts of Mississippi and assurance that no person shall ever profit or benefit from bribing a judge in our state. That goal is not something that should be entrusted to any entity other than the courts of Mississippi. The sanction imposed is the very least exercise of inherent power adequate to achieve the goal.

Since the birth of the Republic, the Courts have had the inherent power to do whatever is "necessary to the exercise of all others."

To fine for contempt -- imprison for contumacy -- inforce [sic] the observance of order, &c. are powers which cannot be dispensed with in a Court, because they are necessary to the exercise of all others

United States v. Hudson & Goodwin, 11 U.S. 32, 33 (U.S. 1812).

In 1981, the Mississippi Supreme Court declared its inherent authority to promulgate its own procedural rules and abrogate those created by the legislature. *Newell v. State*, 308 So. 2d 71, 76 (Miss. 1975). The *Newell* decision is the cited basis for the adoption of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure in 1982. The Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure themselves flow from the inherent power of the courts to control their processes and practices. The Mississippi Rules of Civil

Procedure contain at least seven rules that specifically authorize dismissal of actions, or striking of pleadings, setting aside of judgments, or entry of default for actions that interfere with the process of the court or are a fraud upon the court. See Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, Rules 12(g), 11, 16(i), 37(b), 41(b), 52, and 60(b). The Mississippi Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules specifically prohibit an attempt to influence the decision of a judge. See U.R.C.C.C. 1.10. Those rules also give this Court the power to impose sanctions, to subject a party to contempt proceedings, or to impose other disciplinary actions. See U.R.C.C.C. 1.03.

All of these rules are based on inherent authority, and all can be drastic to litigants. The Mississippi Supreme Court has allowed an Answer to be struck based on the perjury of a party and also for discovery violations. See Burrough v. Hawn, 1998 Miss. LEXIS 545 (Miss. 1998) (unpublished) (stating that Mississippi trial courts are clearly authorized and empowered to impose sanctions upon parties who commit perjury); see also, Pierce v. Heritage Properties, Inc., 688 So. 2d 1385 (Miss. 1997) (affirming a trial court's imposition of sanctions in the form of a dismissal with

U.R.C.C.C. 1.10 expressly states: "No person shall undertake to discuss with or in the presence or hearing of the judge the law or the facts or alleged facts of any case then pending in the court or likely to be instituted therein, except in the orderly progress of the trial, and the arguments or briefs connected therewith; nor attempt in any manner, except as stated above, to influence the decision of the judge in any such case or matter." (emphasis added).

U.R.C.C. 1.03 expressly states: "Any person embraced within these rules who violates the provisions hereof may be subjected to sanctions, contempt proceedings, or other disciplinary actions imposed or initiated by the court."

prejudice against a plaintiff who perjured herself in her answers to interrogatories and in her testimony at her deposition).

The potency of such rules as well as the power to punish for contempt, is the basis for the language requiring them to be exercised with restraint and caution, and employ the least possible power adequate to the end proposed. *Spallone v. United States*, 93 U.S. 265, 276, 280 (1990), cited by Appellants. However, the vast, vast, majority of sanctions are for relatively minor infractions and most times relatively minor sanctions are imposed – sufficient and not unrestrained.

The enormity of the situation in the case at bar that has been thrust upon the Mississippi judicial system is what distinguishes this case from every case cited by Mr. Barrett, his law firm, and Mr. Lovelace's law firm. One who seeks to bribe a judge, seeks to corrupt the justice system. It is an affront to the honor, dignity, effectiveness, and trustworthiness that are absolutely necessary for the exercise of the court's power. A fraud on the court justifies the most extreme sanctions. As the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals stated:

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